2016

State of Utah Plaintiff and Appellee v. Michael John Edgar Defendant and Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Jurisdictional Statement

This court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

The district court issued its Sentence, Judgment, Commitment in *State v. Edgar*, District Court Case No. 131403330, on June 24, 2015 (R. 236–39; attached at Addendum A). Appellant Michael Edgar filed a timely notice of appeal on July 23, 2015. (R. 240–41.) This case initially came under the jurisdiction of the Utah Supreme Court, but the Utah Supreme Court transferred the case to this Court.

Statement of the Issues

Issue 1: In regards to the testimony of a Drug Enforcement Administration agent, (1) did the district court abuse its discretion when it allowed the testimony or (2) was Mr. Edgar’s attorney ineffective when he failed to properly object?

Standard of Review: “A trial court’s ruling under rule 403 is reviewed for abuse of discretion.” *State v. Bluff*, 2002 UT 66, ¶ 47, 52 P.3d 1210. “A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law that the court reviews for correctness.” *State v. Lucero*, 2014 UT 15, ¶ 11, 328 P.3d 841 (quotation omitted).

Preservation: Mr. Edgar’s attorney objected to the prejudicial nature of the agent’s testimony during trial. (R. 429.) But, if the attorney’s objection was not

specific enough, then Mr. Edgar's argument on appeal is not preserved; but an "exception to the preservation requirement is where trial counsel's failure to preserve the issue in the trial court is the result of ineffective assistance of counsel." *State v. Kozlov*, 2012 UT App 114, ¶ 35, 276 P.3d 1207.

Issue 2: Was Mr. Edgar's attorney ineffective when he failed to object to the State's request for permission to file the Second Amended Information the morning of trial?

Standard of Review: "A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law that the court reviews for correctness." *Lucero*, 2014 UT 15, ¶ 11 (quotation omitted).

Preservation: This issue is not preserved, but an "exception to the preservation requirement is where trial counsel's failure to preserve the issue in the trial court is the result of ineffective assistance of counsel." *Kozlov*, 2012 UT App 114, ¶ 35.

Determinative Provisions

Utah R. Crim. P. 4(d)

(d) The court may permit an information to be amended at any time before trial has commenced so long as the substantial rights of the defendant are not

prejudiced. If an additional or different offense is charged, the defendant has the right to a preliminary hearing on that offense as provided under these rules and any continuance as necessary to meet the amendment. The court may permit an indictment or information to be amended after the trial has commenced but before verdict if no additional or different offense is charged and the substantial rights of the defendant are not prejudiced. After verdict, an indictment or information may be amended so as to state the offense with such particularity as to bar a subsequent prosecution for the same offense upon the same set of facts.

Utah R. Evid. 403:

The court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.

Statement of the Case

1. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings

The State originally charged Appellant Michael Edgar with one count of theft by receiving stolen property, nine counts of possession with intent to distribute, and one count of use or possession of drug paraphernalia. (R. 1–3.) The State later amended the possession charges to include an allegation that Mr. Edgar possessed drugs and paraphernalia within a drug-free zone. (R. 170–71.)

A jury convicted Mr. Edgar on all counts and determined that Mr. Edgar possessed drugs and paraphernalia within a drug-free zone. (R. 178–88.)

2. Statement of Facts

2.1 Mr. Edgar is arrested.

In November 2013, a man found out about a fairly new trailer that was being sold for a very low price. (R. 359.) The man suspected the trailer was stolen. (R. 359–60.) The police¹ became involved, and when the man went to meet the seller of the trailer – Mr. Edgar – the police intervened and arrested Mr. Edgar. (R. 362, 364, 367.)

When he was arrested, Mr. Edgar had been driving a car. (R. 379.) The car was not his; it was registered to others. (R. 459–60.) Mr. Edgar told the police that

¹ Officer Boren was the primary officer on that investigated and arrested Mr. Edgar. (R. 376.) Before Mr. Edgar's trial, Officer Boren killed his two young children, his wife, and his mother-in-law, and then he committed suicide. (R. 347.)

he was borrowing the car from a friend. (R. 460-61.) After his arrest, the police did an inventory impound search of the car and found a briefcase in the trunk. (R. 382-84.) An officer popped open the locked briefcase with a screwdriver and found various drugs and a scale. (R. 385-86.)

2.2 The State charges Mr. Edgar and amends the Information the morning of trial.

The State initially charged Mr. Edgar by Information with, among other things, possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute. (R. 1-3.) The State later amended the Information and charged Mr. Edgar with possession with intent to distribute and possession of drug paraphernalia within a drug-free zone. (R. 27-29.) The State alleged in the Amended Information that Mr. Edgar committed the crime within 1,000 feet of a ballet school. (R. 29.) The ballet school, however, was over 1,000 feet from where Mr. Edgar was arrested. (Add. C, R. 809.)

The morning that trial began, at around 8:30am, the district court, the prosecutor, and the defense attorney held an in-chambers conference. (*Id.*)

The prosecutor brought to that conference a Second Amended Information, where, for the first time, Mr. Edgar was charged with committing a crime within 1,000 feet of the "Ultimate Sports USA Baseball and Softball Training Facility to the NW, making it a drug-free zone." (Add. C, R. 809-10.)

The prosecutor asked for permission to file the Second Amended Information. (Add. C, R. 811.) The district court stated that it would allow the State to file the Second Amended Information if the State called an owner or operator of the Ultimate Sports training facility to establish proper foundation for the new drug-free zone. (Add. C, R. 810.) The State found one of the owners of the facility, and she testified later that day. (*Id.*) Mr. Edgar's attorney did some quick Google research on the facility, and he interviewed the owner for the first and only time during a break in the trial proceedings that morning. (Add. C, R. 810-11.)

The owner did testify about the sports facility, and the prosecutor argued in his closing statement that based on the information elicited from the owner during her testimony, Mr. Edgar was within a drug-free zone when he was arrested. (R. 390, 585-86.)

2.3 A witness testifies about a connection between Mr. Edgar and high-level drug dealers.

During trial, a Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) agent testified that about seven months after the charged conduct in this case, Mr. Edgar called him and said "he was seeking to cooperate with law enforcement in regard to heroin trafficking or heroin trafficker that was operating out of the Salt Lake City area and that he would do so in exchange for consideration with his pending charges in Utah County." (Add. B, R. 411, 418, 419.) The agent testified that Mr. Edgar

specified that the trafficker dealt in "pounds of heroin," which was valued at around \$20,000. (Add. B, R. 423.) Then the agent stated that Mr. Edgar discussed working with other law enforcement officers, and Mr. Edgar objected. (Add. B, R. 424-25.) Outside of the hearing of the jury, Mr. Edgar elaborated on his objection, noting "[t]he prejudicial nature of the testimony, there's other cases, he's working with other officers here in [the] state of Utah, that don't pertain necessarily to this case and we're looking at the facts for November 7, 2013 and what he was doing at that time." (Add. B, R. 429.)

The district court granted the objection in part. Specifically, the district court did not allow information about Mr. Edgar's prior contact with law enforcement officers. (Add. B, R. 430.) But the court did conclude that the evidence of Mr. Edgar contacting the agent and informing the agent of his access to heroin traffickers was probative. (*Id.*) After the ruling, the prosecutor asked the agent another question, mentioning Mr. Edgar's "ability to access pounds of heroin and a potential Mexican drug trafficker." (Add. B, R. 431-32.)

The prosecutor again referenced the DEA agent's testimony in closing, when he stated that Mr. Edgar's conversation with the agent was "very telling." (R. 593.) The prosecutor told the jury, "[W]ould we be using our common sense, our life experience be able to reach out and track down the DEA and say, Hey, I've got these state charges, these drug charges, need some help with them, can you

contact the prosecutor? What are you willing to do for me? I've got connections to a Mexican cartel and I can help you bust someone with pounds of heroin. Well, what a coincidence, we actually have some heroin in this case and tons of other drugs." (R. 593.) The evidence at trial showed that the officers found 546 milligrams—1/56 of an ounce—of heroin in the briefcase in the car Mr. Edgar was driving. (R. 506–07.)² The jury convicted Mr. Edgar on all counts.

Summary of the Argument

Mr. Edgar raises two issues on appeal:

First, the DEA agent's testimony about Mr. Edgar's connection to a heroin trafficker should not have been admitted into evidence. The evidence associated Mr. Edgar with a highly disliked and dangerous group—Mexican heroin traffickers—when there was no evidence that connected the trafficker with any of the charged crimes. Such an association was unduly prejudicial and insufficiently probative.³

² The detective that discovered the drugs initially testified that the amount of heroin found was 14 grams. (R. 454.) But then he testified that he found "less than a gram" of heroin. (R. 466.) Finally, the forensic scientist who tested the heroin testified that the amount of heroin found was actually 546 milligrams, which is less than half a gram or 1/56 of an ounce. (R. 486–88, 496, 506–07.)

³ The DEA agent also testified against Mr. Edgar in another case. That case is currently pending on appeal. *See State v. Edgar*, No. 20150594-CA. Mr. Edgar makes similar arguments about the DEA agent's testimony in this case and in No. 20150594.

Second, Mr. Edgar's attorney was ineffective when he did not object to the State's request for permission to file the Second Amended Information the morning trial began. The Second Amended Information changed the location of the drug-free zone, and Mr. Edgar was substantially prejudiced by the admission of the Second Amended Information because he had little time to prepare a defense.

Argument

- 1. The DEA agent's prejudicial testimony should not have been allowed into evidence.**

During trial, a DEA agent offered testimony about Mr. Edgar's association with a drug trafficker working out of the Salt Lake area who dealt with pounds of heroin. That testimony was more prejudicial than probative and should have been excluded under Utah R. Evid. 403. Mr. Edgar's attorney objected to the testimony, arguing that it was prejudicial, and the district court overruled that objection.

The argument here is two-fold: (1) the district court abused its discretion when it allowed into evidence the DEA agent's prejudicial testimony, and (2) in the alternative, if Mr. Edgar's attorney's prejudice objection was not timely or sufficiently specific, then Mr. Edgar's attorney was ineffective for failing to timely and specifically object to the prejudicial nature of the testimony.

1.1 The district court abused its discretion when it allowed the DEA agent's testimony into evidence.

Utah R. Evid. 403 allows a court to "exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of . . . unfair prejudice." Here, the minimal evidentiary value of the DEA agent's testimony was significantly outweighed by the prejudicial nature of that testimony, and the district court should have excluded the testimony.

The DEA agent's evidence was insufficiently probative. The probative value of the DEA agent's testimony was low. When weighing evidence under Rule 403, "courts may consider many factors" and are "bound by the text of rule 403." *State v. Cuttler*, 2015 UT 95, ¶ 18.⁴

The evidence here was ultimately unhelpful in aiding the jury in determining what actually happened in November 2013, when Mr. Edgar was arrested. For instance, the agent's testimony was nonspecific and general: the agent testified Mr. Edgar had "access to a heroin trafficker who was capable of moving large quantities of heroin." (Add. B, R. 422.) No evidence existed that the drug trafficker was involved in the charged crimes. *See United States v. Espinoza*,

⁴ The Utah Supreme Court has noted that "it strikes us as inappropriate for a court to discuss the need for the evidence or the efficacy of alternative proof when the court is analyzing only whether the evidence is unfairly prejudicial." *Cuttler*, 2015 UT 95, ¶ 19.

244 F.3d 1234, 1240 (10th Cir. 2001) (excluding evidence of defendant's sons' drug convictions because there was no evidence that sons were involved in charged crime); *United States v. Romo*, 669 F.2d 285, 288–89 (5th Cir. 1982) (reasoning that defendant's contact with individuals who had convictions for drug-related offenses was irrelevant to whether defendant was engaged in a drug conspiracy).

And although the prosecutor made much of the fact that heroin was also found in the car Mr. Edgar was driving, what was found was 1/56 of an ounce — a far cry from the “pounds of heroin” distributed by the trafficker. (*Compare* Add. B, R. 423 *with* R. 506–07.)

Furthermore, the evidence did not relay any information about what occurred in November 2013; it did not shed any light on whether Mr. Edgar knew the briefcase was in the back of the car he was driving or whether Mr. Edgar knew that the briefcase contained drugs.

Rather than relay information about what happened the day Mr. Edgar was arrested, the evidence merely associated Mr. Edgar with high-level drug traffickers without making any connection between the traffickers and the charged crimes. The evidence did not aid the jury in its determination of whether Mr. Edgar possessed drugs or drug paraphernalia.

The DEA agent's testimony was unfairly prejudicial. “The critical question in a rule 403 analysis for unfair prejudice is whether certain[] testimony is so

prejudicial that the jury will be unable to fairly weigh the evidence.” *State v. Jones*, 2015 UT 19, ¶ 30, 345 P.3d 1195 (quotations omitted). “Additionally, evidence is not unfairly prejudicial because it tends to prove guilt, but because it tends to encourage the jury to find guilt from improper reasoning.” *Id.* (quotations omitted). Improper reasoning includes finding a defendant guilty merely because of an association with others (“guilt by association”), *State v. Gonzalez*, 2015 UT 10, ¶ 37, 345 P.3d 1168, or finding a defendant guilty because of irrelevant emotional considerations, *Robinson v. Taylor*, 2015 UT 69, ¶ 34, 356 P.3d 1230; *State v. White*, 880 P.2d 18, 22 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

The evidence of Mr. Edgar’s association with a heroin trafficker encouraged the jury to engage in improper reasoning because the evidence both influenced the jury to find guilt by association and stirred up irrelevant emotional considerations.

Here, the DEA agent linked Mr. Edgar with a “heroin trafficker that was operating out of the Salt Lake City area” who “was capable of moving large quantities of heroin,” “pounds of heroin” with a street value of \$20,000. (Add. B, R. 419, 422–23.) The prosecutor then summarized the agent’s testimony, noting that Mr. Edgar had an “ability to access pounds of heroin and a potential Mexican drug trafficker.” (Add. B, R. 431–32.) Then in closing the prosecutor mentioned that Mr. Edgar “had connections to a Mexican cartel.” (R. 593.)

The agent's testimony, linking Mr. Edgar to the Mexican drug cartel operating locally, "appeal[ed] to the jury's passions or prejudices" and attempted "to associate the defendant with a feared . . . group" — a foreign drug cartel. *See United States v. Reynolds*, 534 F. App'x 347, 367–68 (6th Cir. 2013) (reasoning that prosecutor's argument that a defendant brought Mexican drug cartels into the local community appealed to the jury's passions and constituted prosecutorial misconduct) (quotation omitted).

Not only did the evidence appeal to the jury's passions, the evidence "implicitly associated" Mr. Edgar with a Mexican drug trafficker, even though there was no evidence of any connection between Mr. Edgar and the trafficker in the charged crime. *See United States v. Echavarria-Olarte*, 904 F.2d 1391, 1398 (9th Cir. 1990) (holding testimony that implicitly associated the defendant with a drug cartel was prejudicial, especially when an association with the cartel did not bear on any element of the charged crime); *see generally United States v. Vallejo*, 237 F.3d 1008, 1017 (9th Cir.), *opinion amended on denial of reh'g*, 246 F.3d 1150 (9th Cir. 2001) (reasoning that the testimony that portrayed the defendant "as a member of an enormous international drug trafficking organization and implied that he knew of the drugs in his car because of his role in that organization" was prejudicial because the defendant "was not alleged to be associated with a drug trafficking organization in even the most minor way").

Here, all the evidence proved was that Mr. Edgar knew drug dealers. That's it. No evidence—not even a hint of an allegation—existed that the drug dealers were connected with the charged crimes. The jury realizing that Mr. Edgar knew some drug dealers was utterly unhelpful in determining whether Mr. Edgar possessed drugs on the night he was arrested.

But what the evidence did do was raise an impermissible inference that because Mr. Edgar knew drug dealers, he, too, was a drug dealer. *See United States v. Lopez-Medina*, 461 F.3d 724, 741–42 (6th Cir. 2006) (reasoning that “guilt by association” evidence is “irrelevant to the question of a defendant’s actual guilt” and is not probative; consequently, evidence that a defendant “knew a criminal” should have been excluded); *United States v. Marshall*, 173 F.3d 1312, 1317 (11th Cir. 1999) (excluding evidence that “tended to establish guilt by association—because [the defendants] cavorted with drug dealers, they must be drug dealers themselves”); *United States v. Pritchett*, 699 F.2d 317, 319 (6th Cir. 1983) (reasoning that prosecutor’s questioning about defendant’s association with a drug dealer created an inference that “because [the defendant] maintained a relationship with a convicted cocaine dealer, [the defendant] himself was somehow prone to criminal activity of the same sort”). The agent’s testimony inferred guilt by association and was highly prejudicial because it may have led the jury to conclude

that Mr. Edgar should be punished, “regardless of his liability in this particular case.” *Robinson*, 2015 UT 69, ¶ 37.

The error was not harmless. Mr. Edgar was harmed by the evidence. An appellate court “will not disturb the jury’s verdict unless the likelihood of a different outcome is sufficiently high to undermine confidence in the verdict.” *State v. High*, 2012 UT App 180, ¶ 41, 282 P.3d 1046 (quotation omitted). “Harmless errors are those that are sufficiently inconsequential so no reasonable likelihood exists that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings.” *Id.* (quotations omitted).

Here, the State’s evidence against Mr. Edgar was not overwhelming. The drugs were found in a briefcase that was locked inside the trunk of the car that Mr. Edgar was borrowing from a friend. (R. 379, 382–86, 460–61.) Furthermore, when the police arrested Mr. Edgar, it was in connection with a stolen trailer — Mr. Edgar was not suspected of dealing drugs nor did the police suggest that any of Mr. Edgar’s conduct was indicative of drug dealing. (R. 362, 364, 367, 382–84.) The police never mentioned that they saw Mr. Edgar distribute or purchase drugs.

Because the evidence against Mr. Edgar was not overwhelming, the agent’s testimony that Mr. Edgar had connections with a high-level drug dealer could have influenced the jury to find Mr. Edgar guilty based on a person he knew rather than on the facts presented at trial.

1.2 Alternatively, Mr. Edgar's trial counsel was ineffective for not appropriately objecting to the DEA agent's testimony.

Mr. Edgar's attorney objected to the "prejudicial nature" of the agent's testimony. (Add. B, R. 429.) Although this should be sufficient to preserve the prejudice argument for appeal, if this Court determines that the argument was not adequately preserved, then Mr. Edgar's attorney was ineffective for failing to timely raise an objection to the testimony on the basis of prejudice.

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