2016

State of Utah Plaintiff and Appellee v. Michael John Edgar Defendant and Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.(a). Defendant argues that the trial court abused its discretion in overruling an alleged rule 403 objection to evidence that he offered to help the DEA gain access to a high-level heroin trafficker in exchange for leniency. But Defendant did not preserve a rule 403 objection to this evidence; he raised only a relevance objection. The trial court overruled Defendant's relevance objection and Defendant has abandoned that claim on appeal. Because Defendant's argument regarding an alleged rule 403 objection is unpreserved, this Court will address it only if Defendant can establish plain error, ineffective assistance of counsel, or exceptional circumstances.

I.(b). Defendant alternatively argues that his counsel was ineffective for not raising a rule 403 objection to the offer evidence. But Defendant has not rebutted the strong presumption that his counsel reasonably chose to forgo a rule 403 objection because he reasonably concluded that rule 403

would not have excluded it. That rule creates a high bar to excluding relevant evidence. It applies only when the evidence's probative value is substantially outweighed by its danger of unfair prejudice.

Counsel could have reasonably concluded that evidence of Defendant's offer to help the DEA had high probative value because it went to the central issue of the case—i.e., whether Defendant knowingly possessed the drugs in the briefcase, and if so, whether he intended to distribute them. Counsel argued that the drugs in the briefcase did not belong to Defendant, but that even if they did, he did not intend to distribute them. Defendant's offer to help the DEA get access to a high-level heroin trafficker in exchange for reduced charges was therefore highly relevant and probative of Defendant's knowledge and intent.

Counsel also could have reasonably concluded that the trial court would view Defendant's offer to help the DEA as highly probative because the offer arguably constituted a tacit admission of Defendant's guilt. Defendant's request for leniency arguably showed that he believed that the drug charges against him were valid. The evidence also had a low potential for unfair prejudice because Defendant's offer to help the DEA was tied to his request for leniency in this case, therefore reducing the chance that the jury would consider the testimony only as evidence that Defendant knew

drug dealers. Given all this, counsel could have reasonably decided that a rule 403 objection would be futile.

Finally, Defendant cannot show prejudice because a rule 403 objection would have in fact been futile and the remaining evidence against him was overwhelming. Defendant was found in sole custody of a briefcase that contained multiple, distributable amounts of drugs, including heroin and two prescriptions for Oxycodone in Defendant's name. While the briefcase also contained several other people's identifications, none of those people's names were on any of the drugs in the briefcase.

II. Defendant next argues that his counsel was ineffective because he did not object to a last-minute amendment to the information that substituted a sports facility for a ballet school as the entity that triggered the drug-free-zone penalty enhancement. Given the timing of the amendment, Defendant argues that his counsel could not measure the distance between the sports facility and the location of Defendant's arrest, and also could not otherwise investigate the sports facility. These claims fail at the outset because they are unsupported in the record. The uncontroverted evidence established that the sports facility was well within the statutorily required distance from where Defendant was arrested in possession of the drugs. It is further uncontroverted that trial counsel researched the sports facility

online that morning, and that he also interviewed an owner before she testified. No record evidence proves—or even suggests—that any additional research could have established that the sports facility was more than 1000 feet from the location of Defendant's arrest, or that it did not otherwise qualify to trigger the drug-free-zone penalty enhancement. Moreover, Defendant has not sought a remand to develop any non-speculative evidence supporting his claim of ineffectiveness.

ARGUMENT

I.

DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN OVERRULING AN ALLEGED RULE 403 OBJECTION TO EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANT OFFERED TO HELP THE DEA GAIN ACCESS TO A HIGH-LEVEL HEROIN TRAFFICKER IN EXCHANGE FOR LENIENCY; ALTERNATIVELY, DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HIS COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE BECAUSE HE DID NOT OBJECT UNDER RULE 403

In Point I of his brief, Defendant argues that the trial court erred when it overruled an alleged rule 403 objection to Agent Holmer's testimony that Defendant offered to help the DEA gain access to a high-level heroin trafficker in exchange for reduced charges. Appt.Br.9-15 (citing Utah R. Evid. 403). Alternatively, Defendant argues that his counsel was ineffective for not raising a rule 403 objection to the testimony. Appt.Br.16-18. Defendant's challenge fails first because he never raised a rule 403

objection to the evidence; rather, Defendant challenged Holmer's offer testimony on relevance grounds only, a claim he has now abandoned on appeal. *See* Aplt.Br.9-18. Defendant's alternative argument, that his counsel was ineffective because he did not raise a rule 403 objection to the offer testimony, fails because Defendant has not proven—and cannot prove—deficient performance or prejudice.

A. Defendant did not preserve a rule 403 objection to the offer testimony.

"To preserve an issue for appeal, the issue must be preserved to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue." *State v. Alzaga*, 2015 UT App 133, ¶21, 352 P.3d 107 (citation and quotation omitted). An objection on one ground "does not preserve for appeal any alternative grounds for objection." *Id.* (citation and quotation omitted).

Defendant argues that the trial court erred in overruling an alleged prejudice objection to Agent Holmer's testimony that Defendant offered to help the DEA gain access to a high-level heroin trafficker in Salt Lake City in exchange for reduced charges. Aplt.Br.9-16. Defendant's argument fails at the outset, however, because he did not preserve a rule 403 objection below; rather, as shown in the Statement of the Case, above, Defendant's only objection to this testimony was that it was irrelevant. *See* R414,R417-

418. Instead of reasserting his relevance objection on appeal, Defendant now asserts a rule 403 prejudice objection. Apl't.Br.9-15. But to the extent that counsel raised a prejudice objection below, it went solely to Holmer's testimony that obliquely referenced Defendant's other cases, not Holmer's testimony about Defendant's offer to help the DEA in this case. *Compare* R427-429 and R414,R418. Because an objection on one ground "does not preserve for appeal any alternative grounds for objection," Defendant's rule 403 objection is unpreserved. *Alzaga*, 2015 UT App 133, ¶21 (citation and quotation omitted). This Court will thus review Defendant's rule 403 challenge to Holmer's offer testimony "only if Defendant can establish plain error, ineffective assistance of counsel, or exceptional circumstances." *State v. Kozlov*, 2012 UT App 114, ¶34, 276 P.3d 1207.

Implicitly recognizing as much, Defendant alternatively argues that his counsel was ineffective for not raising a rule 403 objection to Holmer's offer testimony. *See* Apl't.Br.16-18.

B. Defendant cannot rebut the strong presumption that his counsel reasonably decided to forgo a rule 403 objection to the offer evidence; nor has he shown prejudice.⁴

Defendant argues that his trial counsel should have objected under rule 403 to Agent Holmer's testimony that he offered to help the DEA gain access to a high-level heroin trafficker in exchange for leniency. Aplt.Br.10,16-18. Defendant argues that the testimony was excludable under rule 403 because there was "no evidence that the drug trafficker was involved in the charged crime" – thus, Defendant argues, the evidence was unfairly prejudicial. Aplt.Br.17. He further argues that Holmer's testimony about Defendant's offer constituted *Strickland* prejudice because it appealed "to the jury's passions or prejudices," and associated Defendant "with a feared . . . group." Aplt.Br.17-18 (quotation and citation omitted). Defendant is mistaken on both counts.

To prevail on his ineffectiveness claim, Defendant "has the difficult burden of showing *actual unreasonable representation and actual prejudice.*" *State v. Tyler*, 850 P.2d 1250, 1259 (Utah 1993) (emphasis in original). A failure to prove either element defeats an ineffectiveness claim. *Strickland v.*

⁴ Defendant raises a similar claim of ineffectiveness in a related case, *State v. Edgar*, Case No. 20150594-CA. The State's Brief of Appellee in that case was filed on 20 April 2016.

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 697 (1984); accord *State v. Verde*, 770 P.2d 116, 119 (Utah 1989). Defendant has not proven either *Strickland* element.

1. Defendant cannot rebut the strong presumption that counsel reasonably decided to forgo a rule 403 objection because the offer testimony had strong probative value and posed little danger of unfair prejudice.

This Court's review of counsel's performance begins with a "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *State v. Taylor*, 947 P.2d 681, 685 (Utah 1997) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689). The presumption exists because of the "variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel" and "the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant." *Tyler*, 850 P.2d at 1254; see also *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. The presumption recognizes that, "[u]nlike a later reviewing court, the attorney observed the relevant proceedings, knew of materials outside the record, and interacted with the client, with opposing counsel, and with the judge." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011).

Defendant can rebut this strong presumption only "by persuading the court that there was *no conceivable tactical basis* for counsel's actions." *State v. Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶6, 89 P.3d 162 (emphasis in original) (quotations and citation omitted). The State is not required to articulate a reasonable explanation for counsel's acts or omissions. Nor does a defendant succeed

merely because this Court cannot conceive of a tactical explanation for counsel's performance. Rather, "'the defendant'" always bears the burden to "'overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy.'" *Benevenuto v. State*, 2007 UT 53, ¶19, 165 P.3d 1195 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689); see also *State v. Powell*, 2007 UT 9, ¶46, 154 P.3d 788. But when it is possible to conceive of a reasonable tactical basis for trial counsel's actions, then a defendant clearly has not rebutted the strong presumption that his counsel performed reasonably. See *Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶7; *State v. Holbert*, 2002 UT App 426, ¶58, 61 P.3d 291.

Reasonably concluding that an objection will be futile is a conceivable tactical basis for not raising that objection. Futile objections do not affect the evidence before the jury. They do, however, have the potential to annoy or even alienate the jury. Such objections can also annoy and alienate the trial court and the prosecutor, with whom counsel may have to interact in the future. Thus, failure "to raise futile objections or motions does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel." *State v. Kennedy*, 2015 UT App 152, ¶50, 354 P.3d 775.

Defendant's counsel could have reasonably concluded that it would have been futile to object to evidence of Defendant's offer under rule 403.

That rule presumes that evidence is admissible and imposes a high hurdle for excluding evidence. Relevant evidence may be excluded under the rule only “if its probative value is *substantially* outweighed by a danger of . . . *unfair* prejudice.” Utah R. Evid. 403 (emphasis added); *see also State v. Burke*, 2011 UT App 168, ¶ 34, 256 P.3d 1102. The rule “imposes . . . the heavy burden not only to show that the risk of unfair prejudice is greater than the probative value, but that it ‘substantially outweigh[s]’ the probative value.” *State v. Jones*, 2015 UT 19, ¶29, 345 P.3d 1195 (quoting Utah R. Evid. 403) (alteration in original). “Given this bar, [courts] ‘indulge a presumption in favor of admissibility.’” *State v. Lucero*, 2014 UT 15, ¶32, 328 P.3d 841 (quoting *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1221-22 (Utah 1993)). Indeed, rule 403 “‘is an “inclusionary” rule.’” *State v. Kooyman*, 2005 UT App 222, ¶26, 112 P.3d 1252 (quoting *State v. Ramirez*, 924 P.2d 366, 269 (Utah App. 1996)).

Evidence is unfairly prejudicial only when it “has an ‘undue tendency to suggest decision upon an improper basis.’” *Lucero*, 2014 UT 15, ¶32 (quoting *State v. Bair*, 2012 UT App 106, ¶22, 275 P.3d 1050). Evidence “is not unfairly prejudicial simply because it is detrimental to a party’s case.” *Kooyman*, 2005 UT App 222, ¶26 (quoting *United States v. Magleby*, 241 F.3d 1306, 1315 (10th Cir. 2001)).

Counsel could have reasonably concluded that Agent Holmer's testimony about Defendant's offer to help the DEA had high probative value for two reasons. First, it was directly relevant to the disputed issues of whether Defendant knowingly possessed the drugs in the briefcase, and, if so, whether he intended to distribute them. Second, counsel could have reasonably concluded that the testimony arguably showed that Defendant had tacitly admitted his guilt. Holmer testified that Defendant offered to introduce him to a high-level heroin trafficker in exchange for reduced charges, and asked him to contact the Utah County prosecutor in this case. R419.

This evidence was highly probative of Defendant's knowledge and intent with regard to the drugs in the briefcase. Counsel argued to jurors that the drugs in the briefcase did not belong to Defendant because (1) Defendant was driving someone else's Cadillac; (2) the briefcase was found in the trunk after Defendant was taken from the scene; (3) Defendant never admitted that the briefcase was his; and, (4) although Defendant had property inside the briefcase, it also contained other peoples' property. R572-574. Even if jurors believed that Defendant possessed the drugs in the briefcase, however, counsel argued that the drugs were packaged in individual user amounts, which was more consistent with personal use than

with distribution. R574-575. Evidence that Defendant had direct access to a high-level heroin trafficker made it highly likely that Defendant knowingly possessed the myriad distributable drugs in the briefcase—including heroin—and that he intended to distribute the drugs. In other words, Defendant's admission that he had access to a heroin wholesaler made it highly likely that he was a drug retailer.

For example, in *United States v. Haynes*, 372 F.3d 1164, 1167 (10th Cir. 2004), the defendant's statement that he knew a woman who manufactured methamphetamine using a particular method was admissible under federal rule 403, even though it showed the defendant associated with drug dealers, because the admission was highly probative of a disputed issue. Haynes was charged with attempting to manufacture methamphetamine after investigators found in his home various chemicals and equipment associated with manufacturing meth. *Id.* at 1166. Haynes claimed that he possessed the incriminating items only for making beer, and he introduced testimony that some of the incriminating items had non-criminal uses. *Id.* at 1166-67. One of the substances found in his home contained a substantial amount of phenyl-2-propanone (P2P), and one method for making methamphetamine requires P2P. *Id.*

Haynes objected under federal rule 403 when the prosecution offered testimony that he told a DEA agent “that he knew a woman who manufactured methamphetamine using the P2P method.” *Id.* at 1167. He argued that the evidence “‘posed a danger that the jury would convict on the ground that [he] apparently associated with drug dealers.’” *Id.* (alteration in original). The trial court overruled the objection and “admitted the statement, saying that although it was prejudicial, it was also ‘highly probative’ of Defendant’s knowledge.” *Id.*

The Tenth Circuit affirmed. *Id.* at 1167-1168. It held that the statement was “relevant to show that Defendant was aware that P2P could be used to manufacture methamphetamine” and therefore “shed[] light on why Defendant possessed the various items seized from his home.” *Id.* at 1167. Its probative value therefore was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. *Id.* (citing Fed. R. Evid. 403).

Likewise, counsel here could have reasonably concluded that Defendant’s offer to help the DEA gain access to a high-level heroin trafficker was highly probative of whether Defendant possessed and intended to distribute the heroin and myriad other illicit drugs in the briefcase.

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